The Tradition of Change in Copies
of the Santa Casa di Loreto:
The Case of San Clemente in Venice

Erin Giffin

Sacred Images and Normativity: Contested Forms in Early Modern Art, ed. by

Chiara Franceschini, SACRIMA 1 (Turnhout, 2021), pp. 188-203
© BREPOLS & PUBLISHERS 10.1484/M.SACRIMA-EB.5.122587

This 1s an open access chapter distributed under a CC BY-NC 4.0 International
License.



When the Santa Casa di Loreto, or the Holy House of the Virgin, was recon-
structed on the Venetian island of San Clemente , the commissioner
effectively translated a sacred architectural interior into the local community.
By re-envisioning the holy domicile where the Virgin Mary received the Holy
Spirit into her womb, the Venetian patron and artists promoted a local itera-
tion of a sacred relic and pilgrimage destination that, according to the mirac-
ulous history of the object, first resided in contested Venetian territories be-
fore migrating to its ultimate destination on Italy’s eastern coast. Referencing
a sacred space elsewhere, the structure at San Clemente behaves as a distinct
devotional object, wherein design choices executed across the surfaces of the
Holy House express local priorities. That confrontation between aesthetic and
symbolic languages of the original and the replica contours many early mod-
ern recreations of sacred interiors. Herein I will explore the Venetian replicas
of the Santa Casa di Loreto at the local churches of San Clemente and later at
San Pantalon, together with printed representations of the devotional struc-
ture, that re-envision the Santa Casa di Loreto as a characteristically Venetian
devotional object, and call into question the authority of the Loretan original.

The Santa Casa di Loreto is rich for potential replication, given
its pre-existing penchant for mobility. As the traditional Church narrative of
the Holy House states, the structure lifted off its foundations in Palestine at
the close of the thirteenth century at the behest of the Virgin. With the assis-
tance of angels, the structure relocated first to Trsat in modern Croatia — a
Dalmatian territory periodically invaded and controlled by Venetian forc-
es — and then to the eastern coast of Italy. After various shifts in location,
the structure finally settled on a summit in the Italian region of Le Marche,
assuming the name of Loreto." In her miraculous machinations, the Virgin
sought for and supposedly found a community worthy of her sacred dom-
icile. The tradition of divine travel in the narrative of the Santa Casa suc-
cessfully untethers the structure from a single geographic origin — the Holy
Land — and opens the building and its cult of Marian devotion to multiple
communities simultaneously. That the structure once resided in the environs
of Venice makes the edifice all the more relatable to the Laguna Republic. The
relic’s fickle nature further lends itself to the many later re-creations of the di-
vine edifice constructed across the Serenissima Repubblica and beyond over
the sixteenth, seventeenth, and eighteenth centuries as the latest relocations
of a devotional object in search of worship.

In many ways, the Santa Casa replica on the island of San Clemente faith-
fully re-creates the original at Loreto. Both structures have an east-west
orientation, with the front short facade of the structure facing west into a
church interior, and the eastern wall towards the choir or apse. The window
through which the Archangel Gabriel supposedly flew to bring the Word of
God to the Virgin perforates the western wall in each iteration. Much like the
Loretan original, the structural exterior at San Clemente became a site of op-
ulent expression as a reliquary case enveloping the sacred interior.” The rich-
ly ornamented surfaces of multicoloured stone and sculptural relief encase a
humble structural core . Internally, the religious devotee encounters
a simple, barrel-vaulted interior with walls composed of uneven stone and
brick overlaid with a patchwork of frescoed plaster, from which fragment-
ed faces gaze solemnly out at the viewer. In the eastern internal wall, a niche
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FIGURE 1. Santa Casa replica (exterior:

western wall), various stones (Istrian limestone,
marble), painted wood, 1644-46 (subsequent
additions 1661—-1704). Venice, San Clemente
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FIGURE 2. Santa Casa di Loreto (exterior:
east fagade), various stones (marble, porphyry),
1507-79. Loreto, Santa Casa di Loreto.

FIGURE 3. Santa Casa replica

(exterior: south wall), various stones
(Istrian limestone, marble), painted wood,
1644-46. Venice, San Clemente.



shrine once contained a wooden sculptural replica of the Virgin and Child of
Loreto at San Clemente, an iconic sculptural type associated with the Santa
Casa original and attributed to Saint Luke . Before the niche at San
Clemente stands an altar dedicated to the Virgin against a latticed partition.
Overall, the interior at San Clemente measures approximately 4 x 9.5 m, of-
fering a near commensurate spatial experience to the original at Loreto.*

The context for the Holy House commission in Venice emerges from the
ravages of the plague. During the 1630 epidemic, one of the more significant
outbreaks in the city’s history, the local vicar, Monsignor Francesco Lazzaroni
of the parish of SantAngelo, vowed to pilgrimage to the Santa Casa at Loreto
in thanks for the Virgin’s divine intervention.” Having subsequently survived
the plague and yet to make his pilgrimage journey by the 1640s, Monsignor
Lazzaroni offered the construction of a local Holy House in place of his orig-
inal pledge.® Completed in two years, the dedication of the Holy House in
1646 included a grandiose procession of a Virgin of Loreto cult statue com-
missioned by Lazzaroni. The iconic sculpture travelled to the island from its
temporary display at Santa Maria della Carita, accompanied by a boisterous
train of gondole filled with Venetian nobles, members of religious orders, and
singing crowds. Men fired cannon and played music as devotees carried lit
torches across the waters.” Instead of going to Loreto personally, Lazzaroni ef-
fectively brought the Virgin of Loreto and her Santa Casa to Venice instead.®

The choice of San Clemente as a location for the Holy House replica seems
threefold. When searching for a site for his devotional construction, the com-
missioner, Lazzaroni, approached multiple communities within the city, in-
cluding his own parish of SantAngelo in the sestiere (neighbourhood) of San
Marco. These preliminary requests failed to gain traction, most likely because
of the expansive footprint projected for the structure: the small church on
San Clemente doubled in size to accommodate the new architectural instal-
lation.” Unable to secure adequate space elsewhere, the commissioner set-
tled on the island out in the Laguna, then owned by the Augustinian canons
of the church Santa Maria della Carita."” Beyond convenience of expansion,
San Clemente particularly suited the Holy House by virtue of its long-stand-
ing status as an Augustinian-run hospital and quarantine site for incurable
disease: the island became a centre for plague victims, and subsequently a
mental institution." Finally, the site reportedly acted as a resting point for pil-
grims on their way south to the original Holy House of the Virgin at Loreto.'”
In this final respect, the San Clemente structure joined various other Holy
Houses constructed along pathways leading to the sacred site, as spiritual way
stations reminding and reinforcing pilgrimage expectations regarding the
devotee’s ultimate destination."

The Holy House at San Clemente is a talisman against the plague, an
ex-voto produced in thanksgiving for delivering the community from harm.
As a settlement traditionally founded on the day of the Annunciation, 25
March 421, Venetians gravitated towards the Holy House as a structural em-
bodiment of the Incarnation. Its re-creation in the Laguna at San Clemente
reinforced Venice’s self-proclaimed status as the chosen city of the Virgin, a
fact supported by her initial choice of Dalmatia as the first site of the Holy
House’s residence.’* As such, the San Clemente Santa Casa expresses its lo-
cal orientation through its commission and devotional value, and poignantly
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through its construction. A re-evaluation of the structure’s decorative pro-
gram and visual legacy reveals the structure’s transformation into an expres-
sion of Venetian devotion.

As with many architectural creations of the early modern period, a certain
level of mental reconstruction is necessary to visualize the structure’s original
design. The fagade of the Holy House at San Clemente that we see today does
not reflect its original appearance. When the building was first conceived in
1644, a program of colourful, geometric revetment in rosso di francia, verde
aostani, and breccia medicea adorned all four sides of the exterior.”® A sin-
gle oil painting on panel of unknown subject matter was commissioned of
Bartolo Cert in 1646 for the external front fagade of the Holy House.'® Today,
the painting’s whereabouts are unknown, and the original geometric marble
decoration remains visible only along the lateral sides and in the lingering pe-
ripheral revetment framing the east and west walls. From these remaining ar-
eas, we can intuit how the stone and panel painting once enlivened the walls
of the San Clemente replica. Encompassing these colourful details, a frame-
work of Istrian stone — a pale, mottled grey limestone reminiscent of white
marble — encased and presented the structure, articulating the Santa Casa
replica within a locally quarried material and regional visual language.

Stone revetment is a characteristic form of Venetian decoration. From the
walls of San Marco to the facades of Venetian palazzi lining the Grand Canal,
stone declares opulence and prosperity, permanence and eternity. Pietro
Lombardo’s late fifteenth-century external and internal revetment of Santa
Maria dei Miracoli, tucked away in the sestiere of Cannaregio, celebrates the
community’s devotion to a miracle-working Marian painting through mate-
rial means."” The jewel-box exterior frames and presents a distinctly Venetian
sacred space, with bookended variegated marble revetment framed by Istrian
pilasters and cornices. Taking their cue from such local precedent, the de-
signers of the Holy House at San Clemente created a layered framework: first
a superstructure of Istrian stone, then register outlines of dark grey marble,
with raised colourful revetment at the heart of each wall zone. The layered
effect creates a sumptuously textured revetment not unlike the profusion of
relief decoration across the Santa Casa original.'® The Istrian superstructure
framing these sumptuous materials stresses the inherently local nature of this
sacred house as a reliquary case of regional media transporting, encasing, and
presenting the architectural relic to the local community.

The front fagade of the sacred house, much more in keeping with the
Loretan original today, is the result of a later commission. Over the 1660s, the
powerful Morosini family commissioned Juste le Court to execute the tombs
of Giorgio and Pietro Morosini flanking the high altar of San Clemente."
Seeking visual uniformity between the sacred building and their newly erect-
ed monuments, the family likely appealed to renovate the San Clemente
Santa Casa itself. This design change coincided with the 1660s general ren-
ovation of the devotional structure by the new owners of the island sanctu-
ary, the Camaldolese, who had purchased the church from the Augustinians
in the 1640s as the initial Holy House construction was underway.?’ In 1661,
the Camaldolese monks required the San Clemente Santa Casa to be moved
backwards by eight or nine Venetian piedi to accommodate a longer nave and
accompanying retrochoir.? According to the San Clemente records, a Signor
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Giovanni Battista Franceschini was commissioned to
execute the new incrostadura di marmo of the front
facade, with low reliefs in pietra columbina, a dove-
white stone, on 16 August 1701.2 The family shield im-
mured in the top centre frieze festoon of the new com-
position most likely represents the Morosini crest and
implies their financial support.

With these external alterations, the Morosini trans-
formed the high altar of San Clemente into a fami-
ly chapel, shading the communal vision of the Holy
House with a dynastic veil.*® Other prominent fami-
lies of the Venetian Republic paid similar homage to
the Santa Casa at San Clemente. Angelo Contarini, for
example, bequeathed a silver lamp and funds to main-
tain a lit flame in perpetuity at the Capella della Beata
Vergine.** Contarini and his mother would later be
buried within the Holy House itself, having promised
1000 ducats to renovate the new choir constructed behind the devotional
building.” The legacy of illustrious patronage by long-standing Venetian fam-
ilies and community members speaks to the favour accorded to the Loretan
Madonna and her perceived capacity to heal and protect the Venetian com-
munity. The resulting Morosini fagade gestures back to Loreto while re-envi-
sioning the apse of San Clemente as a family chapel of noble proportions.

The close of the seventeenth century brought transformations at San
Clemente calling to mind the Loretan marble prototype, but the community
still maintained visual elements infused with Venetian taste. These decisions
are fairly standard: exteriors of Holy House replicas are often wildly individ-
ualized with decorative schemas filtered through regional priorities and ma-
terials. What further sets the San Clemente Santa Casa apart from contem-
porary constructions are the stylistic tensions wrought between the Venetian
structure’s sacred interior and its authoritative predecessor, and the influence
of the version at San Clemente upon subsequent Sante Case.

Given the layered decorative program of the Holy House exterior with its
generations of opulent materials, the structural interior of the Santa Casa rep-
lica seems all the more jarring. Rows of uneven brick articulate the sacred
space, materializing behind crumbling frescoed surfaces. The seemingly hap-
hazard, degraded interior is as consciously articulated as the structure’s dec-
orative facade, re-creating the humble materiality of the Santa Casa original.
The fine red and white marble floor showcasing a sepulchral plaque decorat-
ed with crests of the Morosini and the opus sectile altar before the rear-wall
sculpture niche further emphasize the worn state of the interior through stark
contrast. In this respect, San Clemente embodies an intentional transforma-
tive experience where the viewer passes into a sacred interior wherein mate-
riality renders the humility of the faith. As many other Holy House replicas,
the purposefully rough internal walls attest to the relic’s age, its legacy of de-
votion, and the fragility of this lingering contact relic of the Incarnation.*

The San Clemente interior is not characteristically Venetian per se: the
unknown fresco artist that executed the patched decorations makes archaiz-
ing nods to the fifteenth-century precedent at Loreto, imagery that in turn
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harkens back to earlier figural forms. Even so,
the frescoes at San Clemente deviate from the
Holy House original.”” The largest discrepan-
cies appear on the western-facing wall, what is
the counter-facade of the Holy House.

Inside the original Santa Casa di Loreto
in Le Marche, the counter-facade showcas-
es two scenes of the Madonna and Child en-
throned flanking the Gabriel window, each ac-
companied by a haloed figure, Saint John the
Evangelist before the Virgin on the left, and
Saint Anthony Abbot before the second Virgin
on the right. Directly above Gabriel's win-
dow, a wooden crucifixion hangs, referencing
the Santa Casa di Loretos subsequent life as
a meeting place for the apostles following the
ascension of Christ.”® Inside the San Clemente
version, the two scenes of the Madonna and
Child enthroned with saints have morphed
into four : the upper register pairs two
standing Madonnas, Christ-child in arms, be-
side ambiguous, haloed women on either side
of the wall. With few identifying features, the
women imply a more feminine orientation to
the Holy House than the hieratic representa-
tions of John the Evangelist and Saint Anthony
Abbot. Likewise, each Madonna would have fostered a visual association with
the standing sculpture once presented in the shrine directly opposite.

The two upper scenes of Marian imagery on the counter-fagade of the San
Clemente replica accompany lower figural groups flanking the Gabriel win-
dow. The left lower scene in particular renders an unusual composition: a
standing saint and angel, visible only from the bust upwards because of the
fragmented plaster, gaze out at the viewer, the latter of which clasps a crossed
staff in its hands. Other than the crossed staff, no explicit iconography assists
identification of the scene. Frescoed brick lines immediately behind the fig-
ures represented provide a subtle trompe loeil effect that not only heightens
one’s focus on the exposed brick surrounding, but also insinuates the figures
within the chapel interior. Is this the Archangel Gabriel with a heavenly at-
tendant, having just arrived to deliver God’s Word? The identity and signifi-
cance of the figures is obscured by degradation: the abrupt lower edge of the
frescoes coincides with the average height of the Holy House visitor, visually
recreating the discrete removal of plaster from the walls at the original Santa
Casa by zealous early modern devotees.”

Another key difference between the San Clemente fresco cycle and the
original version at Loreto appears on the southern internal wall, direct-
ly over the second doorway into the central room. What was once the loca-
tion of Saint Louis riding in victory towards an enthroned Virgin and Child
now showcases a painted rendition of the Virgin of Loreto sculpture type in
her papal crown and white robe. The fresco depicts the now lost sculpture
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once on display in the altar wall of the Holy
House, commissioned by Francesco Lazzaroni
and brought to San Clemente in 1646. The
decision to omit Saint Louis in favour of the
sculpture removes an important detail from
this recreation of the Santa Casa di Loreto:
the saint’s frescoed presence attests to the de-
votional history of the original structure in
Palestine prior to its divine relocation in Santa
Casa literature. According to the popular ear-
ly modern narratives, Saint Louis appended
his frescoed visage to the Santa Casa during
the thirteenth-century crusades, when the
structure still stood at its original location at
Nazareth.*

The choice of the Virgin of Loreto sculp-
ture as a design detail inside the Santa Casa at
San Clemente over the illustrious devotional
history of Saint Louis is not so much a com-
mentary against the French monarch-saint as
it is a reinforcement of cultural relevance. The
sculptural Madonna di Loreto, which had pro-
cessed with great fanfare to the Laguna Holy
House in 1646, had acted as a pre-existing
emblem of Loretan devotion in Venice inside
the church of Santa Maria della Carita in the
years prior to the replica’s construction.”” The Virgin’s miraculous interces-
sion for Venetians in the decades following the 1630s plague marked the vo-
tive nature of the San Clemente Santa Casa and therefore superseded the nar-
rative history of Saint Louis. These changes to the Holy House interior will
become a standard of Loretan devotion in the Veneto and beyond.

The differences between the San Clemente Holy House and its prototype
at Loreto ripple through Loretan devotion across the Veneto. Subsequent
replicas of the Holy House reflect the changes visible at San Clemente rath-
er than the original sacred structure, implying that the iteration at San
Clemente grew in status as an authoritative version of the Holy House. The
eighteenth-century Holy House replica at San Pantalon, located in the central
Venetian sestiere of San Polo, is a characteristic example of this phenomenon.
Though this later structure exclusively re-creates the interior of the sacred
building , the San Pantalon Santa Casa replica envisions the build-
ing as a joint devotional space and oratory beside the church apse.”” By the
early modern period, San Pantalon was worshiped as a medical saint and an-
other patron of the city, alongside Saint Theodor, Saint Mark and, of course,
the Virgin. The medicinal associations between saint and structure maintain
and reinforce the healing properties of Holy House devotion, linking the
San Pantalon Santa Casa to San Clemente. Much like at San Clemente, the
space was constructed in part to house another replica of the Virgin of Loreto
sculpture, which had been brought to Venice from Loreto in 1658 by the
neighbouring Venetian parish of Vinanti.”> Though instigation of this Holy
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House chapel initially stalled, actual construction progressed quickly under
the guidance of architect Tommaso Scalfarotto, who completed the chapel
within ten months in 1744-45.3* As with the version on San Clemente, the
San Pantalon Santa Casa enshrined its sculptural Virgin of Loreto, and be-
came an epicentre of devotion for the local community.

To complete this new Holy House, the commissioner of the San Pantalon
chapel, Monsignor Gregorio Bianchi, called upon Pietro Longhi, a notable
Venetian painter and a member of the San Pantalon parish.*® Dated to 1744-
45, these rare frescoes by the artist at San Pantalon showcase Longhi’s abili-
ty to bring his famously delicate touch to a large scale, and crucially re-en-
vision and modernize the heavily degraded fresco cycle at San Clemente.*
The internal short wall beside the entrance of the chapel, which corresponds
with the western-facing internal fagade of San Clemente, offers the same four
groupings of Madonna and Child with saints. Similarly, the San Clemente
southern wall decoration of the Virgin of Loreto sculpture type also appears
opposite the entrance into the San Pantalon chapel. But whereas the San
Clemente version prioritizes the conical archaism of the sculptural mod-
el, Longhi reinterprets his Loretan Madonna and Child as more realistic
forms in space. Their bodies, enveloped by the jewel-encrusted white robe,
seem to sway gently towards our right, as the more childlike Christ extends
his princely orb out towards the viewer. Just like the frescoes inside San
Clemente, the figural forms appear before frescoed brick lines that show-
case the crumbling material status of the structure and insinuate the saints,
angels, and multiple versions of the Madonna and Child within the chapel
interior. Lacking contextual landscape or conventional perspective, the nat-
uralistic figures seem disjointed in that they are not within the confines of
a narrative scene, but rather hover before the wall, as if sharing the sacred
interior with the viewer. In her rich ornamentation, the swaying Madonna
metaphorically symbolizes the revision of the structure itself, a naturalistic
woman reframed in opulent attire evocative of the polychromatic surfaces
appended to the Holy House at San Clemente.

The decision to create a new Holy House in 1744, a hundred years after
the instigation of the first structural replica in Venice, begs questions of prec-
edent and intended meaning. According to the San Clemente in Isola records,
the cult of Loreto was reconsecrated on the island on 15 May 1750.” Though
no explicit reference has yet surfaced connecting San Pantalon specifically
with San Clemente, the timely creation of the second Santa Casa replica im-
plies commemoration, either on the part of the community or by the patron.
Longhi’s personalized renditions of the frescoes at San Clemente indicate an
indebtedness to precedent even as the artist’s airy interpretation infuses the
composition with a miraculous, momentary sensation, as if the Holy House
has just appeared within the confines of San Pantalon. Longhi’s frescoes
also came on the heels of another monument to Loretan devotion executed
in Venice: Giambattista Tiepolos now lost ceiling fresco at Santa Maria di
Nazareth, painted in 1743-44, once showcased the Holy House of the Virgin
in flight over the church nave en route to a new devout destination 8
From Tiepolo to Longhi to the reconsecration at San Clemente, this wave of
eighteenth-century public commissions must have reinforced and revitalized
the cult for local community members of the laity and clergy alike.”
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As the Tiepolo fresco implies, Venice played a key role in the spread of
Loretan devotion across Europe. Prints detailing the Santa Casa di Loreto,
circulating through, if not directly manufactured in, Venice, proliferated
throughout seventeenth- and eighteenth-century Europe.” Intended to ac-
curately convey the sacred structure to a wide audience, and perhaps also
acting as foci of devotion unto themselves, these prints claim to detail the
internal walls of the Holy House with extreme accuracy, including a struc-
tural ground plan, schematic walls with partially disintegrated frescoes and
hanging votives, and textual keys to facilitate identification.

The level of detail and accuracy varies between prints, but one type of
Santa Casa engraving is particularly relevant to the replicas at San Clemente
and San Pantalon. Housed in the Bertarelli collection in Milan, a print of the
Santa Casa diagramming the structural interior reflects design traits more in
keeping with the Venetian Holy Houses than the Loretan original . The
Delineatio S. Domus Lauretanae purportedly details a precise visual recrea-
tion of the Loretan original, having been printed in Rome, as it clearly states
in the bottom right corner: ‘Romae apud Carolum Losi anno 1773’ The title
of the print, Delineations of the Holy House of Loreto, and its site of produc-
tion in Rome accords authoritative accuracy even though the details within
the print indicate otherwise: the rear wall of the structural interior, repre-
sented in the top right corner of the print, clearly includes the four figural
groups encircling the Gabriel window and the Virgin of Loreto hovering over
the doorway on the wall adjacent.* Given the singular traits of the engraving,
I theorize that this print by Carlo Losi re-creates a much earlier engraving that
stemmed directly from the replica at San Clemente.* With the print’s detailed
representation of the surviving frescoes in the Venetian Laguna, Losi likely
worked from a source that disseminated the interior details of the Venetian
Holy House to other structures in Venice, such as San Pantalon, and beyond.

This same Santa Casa design scheme appears in other communities with
long-standing connections to the Venetian Republic, including in Poland and
nearby Slovenia. Either members of these external communities travelled di-
rectly to Venice to personally experience and document the Venetian Holy
House on the assumption of its structural accuracy, or their artisans worked
from prints like the Delineatio S. Domus Lauretanae to construct subsequent
regional Sante Case, the resulting details of which distinguish these replicas
from other dominant types.” The seventeenth-century dates of construction
of Polish and Slovenian Sante Case exhibiting details included in the Bertarelli
engraving likely indicate that the surviving print is a republication of an ear-
lier engraving or print matrix in circulation in or following the 1640s. The as-
sumption that the Bertarelli print was issued in Rome, the seat of the papacy
and administrative hub of Loreto, reinforces the acceptance of subsequent gen-
erations of historians and archivists of this idiomatic version, and the lingering
assumptions of accuracy and authority appended to the Venetian version.

Changes in representation demonstrate the power of regional authorita-
tive imagery and the malleability of reinterpretation. The assumption of ac-
curacy on the part of local artists is entirely logical, and acceptance of that
regional replica as the authoritative original by other communities, including
by the Roman people — under whose diocese the Santa Casa di Loreto shrine
operated — problematizes the singularity of sacred objects and spaces across
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FIGURE 8. Carlo Losi (engraver) Delineatio
S. Domus Lauretanae, engraving, 1773. Milan,
Raccolta delle stampe ‘Achille Bertarelli'.

early modern replicas. This revelation does not devalue the many different
Holy Houses across the Italian peninsula and beyond, but it rather calls into
question the precedent from which each sacred structure arises. The suppos-
edly accurate renditions of the Santa Casa in print and three-dimensional re-
production operate simultaneously as sources of information and objects of
devotion, with layers of authority appended to each domicile of the Virgin.
Tracing the circulation of Holy House prints and their influence on subse-
quent edifices demonstrates the spread of Loretan devotion, and, consequent-
ly, the replicas born of replicas hint at region-specific devotional priorities:
the votive offerings blanketing the altar wall in the Bertarelli print, for exam-
ple, might reference the prolific devotion at Loreto, but it may also tantaliz-
ingly replicate Venetian devotions now imperceptible in the stripped modern
interiors of the Holy Houses at San Clemente or San Pantalon, or in even lat-
er replicas in Venetian-allied communities.**

Re-creations of the Santa Casa di Loreto, executed in multiple media and
stemming from various sources of information, have yet to be analysed as
interconnected and evolving early modern devotional foci. The case of San
Clemente is but one mode of many Loretan representations wherein the
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replica assumes authoritative status in the evolution of cult worship. Whether
conscious or not, the priority of the San Clemente version dominates the
visual language of Loretan devotion in the Veneto, and influences Loretan
shrines in the communities of their cultural and political allies. Those infu-
sions of Venetian devotion, through the stone revetment at San Clemente, or
the Longhian leggerezza of the frescoes at San Pantalon, frame devotion to
the sacred structure in a distinctly regional visual language. In many ways,
the new sacred edifice at San Clemente highlights the Virgin’s discerning fa-
vouritism, reinforcing the tradition of change in the community’s association
with the Virgin of Loreto.
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another ex-voto plague construction con-
ceived in the 1660s by architect Baldassare
Longhena and sculptor Juste le Court (who
is also attributed with the Morosini tombs
flanking the San Clemente Santa Casa);
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Diversi Religiosi, Secolari dell'uno, e I'altro
sesso, tutti facendo a gara, et a vicenda
chi piu poteva onorare la Regina de’ Cieli,
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island as a hospital and asylum, see
Cecconello, San Clemente, pp. 39-50.
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once the seat of the diocese of Loreto,
located about thirteen kilometres from the
Santa Casa original (Grimaldi, L'Ornamento
marmoreo, pp. 93—-114).
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Coronation of the Virgin by Paduan artist
Guariento; see Patricia Fortini Brown, “The
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al., Stuttgart: Franz Steiner Verlag, 1991,
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Tenenti, Sei riproduzioni della Santa Casa,
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ed. by Mario Piana and Wolfgang Wolters,
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ed Arti, 2003, 41-50.
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torniata di marmi”, pp. 43-46).

19  The Morosini had a pre-existing
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Camaldolese agreed to receive the body of
Thomaso Morosini for burial. According to
archival documents, the man had died ‘in
Armada’. For the honour of burial, the family
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San Clemente in Isola MSS, Busta |, Canto
|, f. 4r). In 1688, Francesco Morosini would
become doge of Venice, after a long career
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Maria della Carita on 15 January 1645
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home of Saint Anne and Saint Joachim.
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sconosciuti di Pietro Longhi”, Paragone,
7 (1956), 21-26 (p. 22, note 3).
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1607, pp. 116, 139.

The Tradition of Change in Copies of the Santa Casa di Loreto

203



	Erin Giffin. The Tradition of Change in Copiesof the Santa Casa di Loreto: The Case of San Clemente in Venice



